

MASTER THESIS

VR Public Speaking Training: The Effectiveness of A Relaxation Micro-Intervention Training in Reducing Symptoms Related to Public Speaking Anxiety among Students in Higher Education

N. Firouz

Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences, University of Twente

> Supervisors: Dr. B. Kollöffel Dr. I. Friso-van den Bos

Keywords: Public Speaking, Public Speaking Anxiety, Virtual Reality, Relaxation Training, Objective Arousal, Subjective Arousal

August 29, 2023

UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.



Abstract

The aim of this study was to determine the immediate reducing effects of a single session of a relaxation micro-intervention training (RMIT) on both the objective and subjective arousal of public speaking anxiety (PSA) among students in higher education. This study used a mixed-method approach, a within-subjects design and involved students (N = 13) in higher education. Participants took part in a 60-minute VR-based public speaking training session. The session consisted of five steps, three of which involved giving a 5minute presentation. In one step, participants performed relaxation exercises guided by an audio recording. The physiological arousal associated with PSA was monitored by collecting pulse rate (PR) and electrodermal activity (EDA) data. To collect these physiological measures, participants wore an EmbracePlus wristband throughout the session. In addition, semi-structured interviews were conducted to explore participants' perceived feelings of nervousness and control during the presentations. Friedman and post-hoc Wilcoxon signedrank tests showed significant decreases in participants' PR scores across three time intervals, decreases in self-reported nervousness, and increases in self-reported control. However, no significant main effect was found for participants' EDA scores. While a number of participants reported that the RMIT made them feel more relaxed, focused and calm during their presentations, some attributed this to the familiarity gained from repeating their presentation three times. Future research should include a larger sample size and a control group in order to draw definitive conclusions about the true immediate reducing effects of the RMIT.

Keywords: Public Speaking, Public Speaking Anxiety, Virtual Reality, Relaxation Training, Objective Arousal, Subjective Arousal

Table of contents

Abstract	2
Abbreviations	5
Introduction	6
1. Theoretical Framework	9
1.1. Public Speaking	9
1.2. Public Speaking Anxiety (PSA)	9
1.2.1. Trait or State	11
1.2.2. Objective and Subjective Arousal	12
1.3. Virtual Reality (VR) for Public Speaking	14
1.3.1. VR: Eliciting Objective and Subjective Arousal of PSA	15
1.4. Relaxation Training	17
1.5. Hypotheses	20
2. Method	21
2.1. Research Design	21
2.2. Participants	21
2.3. Procedure	22
2.4. Instruments and Experiment	23
2.5. Data Analysis	26
3. Results	28
3.1. Descriptive Statistics	28
3.2. PR	29
3.2.1 Differences in PR Scores Between Presentation Sessions	29
3.3. EDA	33
3.3.1 Differences in FDA Scores between Presentation Sessions	

Appendix - Script relaxation micro-intervention training	64
References	50
4.4. Theoretical and Practical Implications	46
4.3. Limitations and Future Research	44
4.2. Interpreting Results of the Semi-Structured Interviews	42
4.1.2. EDA	41
4.1.1. PR	
4.1. Interpreting Results of the Objective Measurements	
4. Discussion	
3.4.1 Participants' Experiences of Nervousness and Control	37
3.4. Level of Nervousness and Control	35

Abbreviations

ANS	Autonomic nervous system
EDA	Electrodermal activity
HR	Heart rate
PNS	Parasympathetic nervous system
PR	Pulse rate
PSA	Public speaking anxiety
RMIT	Relaxation micro-intervention training
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
VR	Virtual Reality

Introduction

According to Tsang (2018), public speaking is the act of speaking in front of a large group of people. As Rodero and Larrea (2022) point out, public speaking is an important skill for students in the 21st century, both for educational and future purposes. For example, students need to be able to speak in front of an audience when presenting to professors and peers as part of assessments. Even after graduation, public speaking skills are required for job interviews and interactions with clients and colleagues at work (Tsang, 2017). However, public speaking is often associated with increased levels of anxiety (Gruber & Kaplan-Rakowski, 2022; Nash et al., 2016). According to Kalra and Siribud (2020), this type of anxiety is commonly referred to as public speaking anxiety (PSA). Importantly, PSA is a common phenomenon, with the majority of people experiencing varying degrees of nervousness during public speaking (Ebrahimi et al., 2019; Raja, 2017). Common symptoms of PSA include both objective indicators of arousal, such as excessive sweating and increased pulse rate (PR), and subjective aspects of arousal, such as feelings of nervousness and negative self-perception during public speaking (Atal & Kızılışıkoğlu, 2022; Kahlon et al., 2019; Owens & Beidel, 2014; Raja, 2017; Sommerfeldt et al., 2019; Quinn & Goody, 2019). According to Lim et al. (2022), these symptoms can be overwhelming and have a negative impact on the quality of one's speaking performance. Therefore, it is important for students to practise public speaking while also learning strategies to manage and reduce PSA (Frisby et al., 2020; Valls-Ratés et al., 2022).

Virtual Reality (VR), a technology designed to replicate real-world environments, has gained popularity as a valuable tool for public speaking practice (e.g. Davis et al., 2019; Kryston et al., 2021; Vallade et al., 2020). VR-based public speaking training provides individuals with the opportunity to practise their public speaking skills while realistically simulating the presence of an audience (Davis et al., 2019; Vallade et al., 2020). This realistic environment can be achieved in a number of ways, including the use of 360-degree video with real people in a classroom or the creation of a virtual audience of animated avatars (Davis et al., 2019; Vallade et al., 2020). According to Frisby et al. (2020), these virtual environments can encourage individuals to experience an authentic emotional and physiological state. Importantly, various studies using VR for public speaking have consistently shown that presenting to a virtual audience results in similar levels of selfreported anxiety and physiological arousal as presenting to a live audience (e.g. Felnhofer et al., 2014; Kahlon et al., 2019; Owens & Beidel, 2014). For example, Owen and Beidel (2014) found that presenting to a virtual audience resulted in similar feelings of discomfort and physiological arousal, such as increased heart rate (HR), as presenting to a live audience. This demonstrates that VR-based public speaking training provides an ideal platform for students to actively apply and practise anxiety-reducing strategies in an environment that closely resembles a real-life situation.

To address the anxiety associated with public speaking, the integration of relaxation training may serve as a valuable complement to VR-based public speaking training. As a nonpharmacological intervention, relaxation training can be used to help individuals manage and reduce anxiety in a variety of contexts (Hamdani et al., 2022; Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2020). This form of training involves individuals performing relaxation exercises, which often include deep breathing and meditation exercises (Flor et al., 2013; Zaccaro et al., 2018). According to Smith et al. (2018), there are a number of benefits to performing relaxation exercises. For example, performing relaxation exercises can regulate breathing rate and reduce physiological symptoms, such as increased HR (Flor et al., 2013; Quintana & Heathers, 2014). Furthermore, relaxation exercises can enable individuals to achieve selfreported calmness and focus, to feel in control and to respond more wisely to stressful situations (Ghandeharioun & Picard, 2017; Lin et al., 2007; Smit et al., 2018). Various studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of relaxation training in reducing physiological symptoms and self-reported anxiety (e.g. Amutio et al., 2014; Aritzeta et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2017; Magnon et al., 2021). For example, Chen et al. (2016) found that participants who underwent a diaphragmatic breathing relaxation training programme over an eight-week period had significantly lower HR and skin conductance compared to the control group. In addition, Magnon et al. (2021) found that self-reported anxiety and physiological arousal (HR) significantly decreased in both young and older adults after a single 5-minute relaxation exercise.

Although the existing literature highlights the positive effects of practising relaxation exercises, to the authors' knowledge there is a research gap in specifically understanding the immediate reducing effects on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA. To address this gap, the present study aims to investigate whether a single session of a relaxation micro-intervention training (RMIT) has immediate reducing effects on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA among students in higher education. The results of this study will fill this gap and provide important insights into the short-term effects of the RMIT on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA. By analysing the immediate reducing effects of the RMIT, this research will shed light on the potential effectiveness of brief relaxation interventions as a tool to address PSA. The results of this study may also have practical implications for individuals who find themselves in situations where public speaking causes anxiety.

1. Theoretical Framework

1.1. Public Speaking

Various scholars have provided different definitions of public speaking. Alberts et al. (2011) define public speaking as 'the process of speaking with purpose to a group of people in a relatively formal setting' (as cited in Nash et al., 2016). This definition emphasises the communication that takes place in a formal context. In contrast, Novaković and Teodosijević (2017), present a broader perspective that challenges the traditional idea that public speaking only takes place in formal settings. They argue that public speaking involves communication with individuals or groups, whether in person or across different platforms, in order to achieve specific goals. Furthermore, Gregory (2010) explains public speaking as the act of giving an oral presentation with the aim of clarifying and conveying information to an audience (as cited in Gufriyansyah & Khairani, 2019). Gregory's definition emphasises the informative aspect of public speaking and its goal-oriented nature. In an earlier work, Jaffee (1995) provided a broad definition of public speaking as the act of preparing and delivering a presentation, engaging in a conversation, or presenting an argument to a group of listeners. This can occur in a variety of settings, such as in a classroom, giving a lecture, or participating in a group discussion (as cited in Gufriyansyah & Khairani, 2019). For the purposes of the current study, Jaffee's (1995) definition will be used, as the study focuses primarily on the act of giving a presentation in a higher education setting (e.g. classroom, lecture hall).

1.2. Public Speaking Anxiety (PSA)

PSA has been widely recognised and studied by researchers, who use the term to describe the feelings of stress and nervousness that individuals experience when speaking in

front of a group of people (Gallego et al., 2020; Premkumar et al., 2021; Reeves et al., 2021). Characteristics of PSA include physiological changes, negative self-talk (cognition) and/or behavioural changes (Bodie, 2010; Docan-Morgan & Schmidt, 2012). Physiological changes may include increased PR, blood pressure, body temperature, HR and excessive sweating (Atal & Kızılışıkoğlu, 2022; Kahlon et al., 2019; Raja, 2017). According to Dodo and Hashimoto (2019), these physiological changes are influenced by the autonomic nervous system (ANS) and its interaction with the body's natural chemical processes. The sympathetic nervous system (SNS), a component of the ANS, is activated when the ANS is highly aroused, such as during public speaking (Dodo & Hashimoto, 2019; Li, 2020). As Li (2020) explains, this sympathetic response causes the human body to release hormones and adrenaline, which has an overwhelming effect on the individual's physical and emotional responses. These hormones cause an increase in HR and breathing, while also temporarily redirecting blood flow to the brain, heart and muscles (Li, 2020). This response can be traced back to the fight-or-flight response, which played a crucial role in early humans escaping from life-threatening situations (Bell et al., 2018; Gaffey & Wirth, 2014). Moreover, the ANS, particularly the SNS, is closely associated with the sweat glands (Bell et al., 2018). Consequently, high ANS activity leads to increased sweating as part of the body's efforts to regulate temperature and manage increased arousal (Busch et al., 2012; Hadinejad et al., 2019; Jacobs et al., 1994). In contrast to the SNS, the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) regulates the physiological functions during periods of relaxation (Bell et al., 2018). Negative self-talk involves an individual's critical evaluation of themselves and their public speaking experience (Quinn & Goody, 2019). According to Hofmann and DiBartolo (2000), cognitive theory suggests that people experiencing PSA often have negative thoughts. These thoughts tend to focus on the presenter's concerns about their perceived shortcomings (e.g. fear of

forgetting) or their concerns about how the audience might react (e.g. laughter, negative judgement). As the day and time of the presentation approaches, these thoughts intensify, causing individuals to become more nervous and potentially affecting their ability to deliver an effective presentation (Hofmann & DiBartolo, 2000). According to Beatty and Valencic (2002), even individuals who are proficient in public speaking may worry about making mistakes or receiving negative feedback from their audience (as cited in DiBartolo & Molina, 2010). Behavioural changes associated with PSA include a range of physical manifestations, including uncomfortable movements, blushing of the face and neck, trembling, and avoiding eye contact (Bodie, 2010; Quinn & Goody, 2019). Consequently, these three characteristics of PSA contribute to the occurrence of various speech errors, including adopting a closed posture, speaking less fluently, avoiding eye contact with the audience, fidgeting nervously, and speaking quickly without pausing to breathe (Palmas et al., 2019; Quinn & Goody, 2019).

1.2.1. Trait or State

The literature on PSA distinguishes between PSA as a 'trait' and PSA as a 'state' (Quinn & Goody, 2019). The term 'state' refers to the temporary experience of anxiety that occurs in response to a specific stressful situation, such as public speaking (Bodie, 2010; Sülter et al., 2022). For example, an individual may only experience anxiety for a short period of time when they have to give an oral presentation. The term 'trait' emphasises the persistent presence of anxiety across a wide range of situations and times, making it essentially part of a person's personality (Bodie, 2010; Witt et al., 2006). This suggests that a person will experience anxiety when asked to speak, regardless of the situation. In the current study, PSA refers to the temporary feeling of anxiety experienced in a particular setting and at a particular time ('state'), as the purpose of the study is not to treat people's personalities ('trait').

1.2.2. Objective and Subjective Arousal

According to Owens and Beidel (2014), PSA involves a combination of both objective and subjective arousal. Objective arousal refers to the observable physiological responses, such as increased electrodermal activity (EDA), HR, blood pressure, and cortisol levels (Giannakakis et al., 2019). EDA, also known as skin conductance, is the result of sweat glands (Bell et al., 2018; Horvers et al., 2021). PR, HR and EDA are widely used measures to assess physiological responses during public speaking tasks (e.g. Felnhofer et al., 2014; Kahlon et al., 2019; Sülter et al., 2022; Takac et al., 2019). To accurately measure these physiological responses during public speaking, research has used a variety of tools. For example, studies have used an electrocardiogram (ECG) (Felnhofer et al., 2014), a pulse monitor (Takac et al., 2019), and digital wristbands (Kahlon et al., 2019; Sülter et al., 2022). On the other hand, subjective arousal refers to an individual's perceived feelings of anxiety, nervousness, stress, or excitement that they may experience in different situations (Sommerfeldt et al., 2019; Owens & Beidel, 2014). In research on PSA, self-report methods such as interviews and questionnaires are the most commonly used tools to assess subjective arousal (e.g. Gallego et al., 2021; Owens & Beidel, 2014).

The use of physiological measures alone can provide objective and quantitative data on the body's physiological response to anxiety-provoking situations (Giannakakis et al., 2019). These physiological indicators can help researchers determine the physiological changes that occur during public speaking situations and the intensity of physiological responses (e.g. Felnhofer et al., 2014; Kahlon et al., 2019; Sülter et al., 2022; Takac et al., 2019). However, according to Barrett (2006), physiological responses in the body (e.g. an increase in HR) do not have a clear meaning on their own and are not necessarily related to the experience of emotion. On the other hand, self-report methods allow individuals to express their perceived feelings of anxiety during public speaking situations (e.g. Gallego et al., 2021; Owens & Beidel, 2014). Despite this, Behnke and Beatty (1981) argue that individuals may interpret physiological arousal during public speaking differently, with some labelling it as anxiety and others experiencing it as excitement (as cited in Gallego et al., 2021). This suggests that individuals who do not identify their feelings as anxiety may not report experiencing high levels of PSA. Consequently, relying solely on physiological measures or self-report methods may fail to provide a complete picture of PSA.

According to Schachter and Singer (1962), emotions are not explained by physiological responses or thoughts alone, but by a combination of both (as cited in Gallego et al., 2021). By combining physiological and self-report measures, researchers may be able to gain a detailed, nuanced and multidimensional understanding of PSA (Gallego et al., 2021; Niles et al., 2015). For example, Niles et al. (2015) investigated the use of emotion labelling to improve the effectiveness of exposure therapy in participants with PSA. Their findings showed that participants demonstrated greater decreases in physiological arousal, but no effect was found on self-report measures. In addition, Gallego et al. (2021) conducted a study with university students to investigate the relationship between selfreport and physiological arousal of PSA during a public speaking activity. The results of the study indicated that the physiological arousal during the presentations was not related to the self-reported levels of PSA. Recognising that different measures (self-report and physiological) may capture different aspects of individuals' responses to public speaking situations, this study uses a combination of physiological indicators along with a self-report method to gain a detailed, nuanced and multidimensional understanding of PSA.

1.3. Virtual Reality (VR) for Public Speaking

To simulate the experience of a real-life public speaking situation, the current study uses VR technology. VR, a technology that has been around for about fifty years, refers to computer-generated interactive 3D worlds that provide an exclusive experience to an individual through the use of a headset that blocks out external visual stimuli (Valls-Ratés et al., 2022). Palmas et al. (2019) emphasise that VR has the special ability to immerse individuals in virtual environments that are difficult to replicate in real life. Due to their lifelike properties, these virtual environments can evoke emotions similar to real life situations (Frisby et al., 2020; Palmas et al., 2019). This feeling of 'being there' in a virtual environment is called 'presence', which can be characterised as a user's response to the virtual environment (Sarpourian et al., 2022). Through presence, people can interact with virtual worlds in a way that is similar to how they would encounter similar situations in real life (Palmas et al., 2019). Consequently, VR has been defined by Hu et al. (2020) as a 'transformative service that aims to build a synthetic virtual environment to mimic the real world and subsequently immerse participants in highly realistic virtual worlds' (p. 105). This definition, given by Hu et al. (2020), characterises the purpose and use of VR in the current study, which is the use of a virtual environment that closely simulates the experience of a real-life public speaking situation.

This practical application of VR has been widely used in VR-based public speaking training (Poeschl, 2017). The use of VR-based public speaking training allows individuals to simulate the same or similar classroom environment in which they will deliver their

14

presentation, as well as the audience they will be addressing (Frisby et al., 2020). This audience can be represented by animated characters or a 360-degree video of real people in a classroom environment (Davis et al., 2019; Vallade et al., 2020). According to Kahlon et al. (2019), the use of a headset that covers the eyes can simulate public speaking practice in a virtual environment. This setup enhances the experience by providing depth perception and interactive content that adapts to head movements, giving the impression that the speaker is in front of a realistic virtual audience and allowing the speaker to explore and observe the virtual environment (Frisby et al., 2020; Kahlon et al., 2019; Šalkevičius et al., 2019). Furthermore, VR-based public speaking training incorporates features that track an individual's speaking performance, such as vocal use, gestures and eye gaze, and provides immediate feedback both during and after the public speaking practice (Kryston et al., 2021; Van Ginkel et al., 2019). This feedback allows individuals to improve their public speaking performance and gain valuable experience in a simulated environment (Frisby et al., 2020).

1.3.1. VR: Eliciting Objective and Subjective Arousal of PSA

As highlighted earlier, VR-based public speaking training has the ability to replicate real-life public speaking situations. Importantly, studies with clinical participants have shown that VR for public speaking is effective in inducing similar symptoms of PSA when presenting to a virtual audience as individuals would experience in real-life situations (e.g. Felnhofer et al., 2014; Kahlon et al., 2019; Owens & Beidel, 2014). For example, Owens and Beidel (2014) conducted a study to explore how a VR environment can induce both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA. Participants delivered a speech to both a live and a virtual audience, while physiological arousal and self-reported distress were measured. They found that presenting to a virtual audience resulted in similar levels of distress and physiological arousal, such as increased HR and skin conductance, as presenting to a live audience. Furthermore, Felnhofer et al. (2014) explored the relationship between presence, self-reported anxiety and HR in a virtual public speaking environment. In their study, the researchers continuously monitored participants' HR using an ECG and found that participants' HR increased significantly when speaking in front of a virtual audience.

Studies with non-clinical participants have shown similar results. For example, in the study by Takac et al. (2019), students and employers were randomly assigned to three different software topics and three VR public speaking environments. Each participant was asked to give a six-minute speech on each topic. Throughout the study, participants' HR was continuously monitored using a Fitbit Surge wristband. Self-reported distress was also measured. Their study found that their VR public speaking environments were able to induce self-reported distress and significantly increase HR (Takac et al., 2019). Additionally, Stupar-Rutenfrans et al. (2017) conducted a study with university students who used VR technology at home to deliver three different speeches per week. The first session had no audience on the VR screen, the second had a small audience, and the third had a large audience. To assess their anxiety levels, the participants had to complete several questionnaires. The results showed a significant increase in participants' self-reported anxiety from the first to the second session (Stupar-Rutenfrans et al., 2017).

Despite the initial objective and subjective arousal responses, it is important to acknowledge that repeated sessions of presenting to a virtual audience have been investigated as an approach to reducing symptoms associated with PSA within Virtual Reality Exposure Therapy (VRET). VRET, as described by Zacarin et al. (2019) and Yuen et al. (2019), is based on the principle of habituation, whereby individuals with severe social anxiety engage in repeated public speaking experiences using VR. Through repeated

16

exposure, VRET aims to gradually habituate individuals to public speaking situations and reduce their anxiety levels over time (Zacarin et al., 2019). Studies involving participants with severe social anxiety have shown that repeated exposure to a virtual audience is effective in reducing symptoms associated with PSA (e.g. Kahlon et al., 2019; Lindner et al., 2020; Yadav et al., 2022). For example, Yadav et al. (2022) found that eight sessions of presenting to a virtual audience reduced both participants' self-reported and physiological symptoms of PSA. Similarly, Kahlon et al. (2019) found that seven sessions of presenting to a virtual audience reduced both participants' self-reported and physiological symptoms of PSA. Similarly, Kahlon et al. (2019) found that seven sessions of presenting to a virtual audience reduced both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA through VRET, the current study takes a different approach by using VR to simulate a real-life public speaking situation, specifically for training purposes. By creating a realistic public speaking situation in the current study, VR-based public speaking training provides an ideal platform for students to actively apply and practise anxiety-reducing strategies in an environment that closely resembles a real-life public speaking situation.

1.4. Relaxation Training

To address the anxiety associated with public speaking, the present study focuses on the integration of relaxation training as a valuable component of VR-based public speaking training. As a non-pharmacological intervention, relaxation training can be used to help individuals manage and reduce anxiety in a variety of contexts (Hamdani et al., 2022; Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2020). Relaxation training involves a person performing relaxation exercises (Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2020), which refers to a collection of methods used to improve the body's physiological response to anxiety (Hamdani et al., 2022). Deep breathing, which involves a relaxed abdominal breathing technique, is often used in relaxation exercises (Aritzeta et al., 2017; Flor et al., 2013). This is because the ANS, which is active when people experience anxiety, is controlled by breathing (Chen et al., 2016: Dimitriev et al., 2016; Kimani et al., 2021). Deep breathing involves inhaling and exhaling through the mouth and nose and can help people become more aware of their breathing by allowing them to perceive its slow, natural rhythm (Aritzeta et al., 2017; Flor et al., 2013). This state of relaxation activates the PNS, which can have a calming effect on the ANS, leading to a reduction in physiological symptoms (Chen et al., 2016; Flor et al., 2013; Tian et al., 2018; Quintana & Heathers, 2014). To illustrate, individuals who are relaxed often show decreases in HR, blood pressure, respiratory rate, and skin conductance (Liou et al., 2014, as cited in Chen et al., 2016; Seo et al., 2016). Deep breathing, which focuses on both the mind and the respiratory system, can also be considered a form of meditation (Dincer et al., 2020; Zaccaro et al., 2018). According to Lin et al. (2007), meditation can help individuals respond more wisely to stressful situations by learning to be fully present without reacting immediately. This involves developing a heightened sense of mindfulness, which means becoming aware of their thoughts, feelings, physical sensations and the environment around them. This mindful approach allows individuals to face stressful situations with a sense of calm and focus (Decker et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2007; Moridani et al., 2021).

Several studies have shown that engaging in relaxation exercises is effective in reducing physiological arousal and self-reported anxiety over an extended period of training (e.g. Amutio et al., 2014; Aritzeta et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2017). For example, a study by Aritzeta et al. (2017) investigated the effects of a relaxation training programme on anxiety and academic performance among undergraduate psychology students. This relaxation training programme consisted of five sessions of three training activities, including deep breathing, guided imagery meditation, and muscle relaxation. Their results showed that students who participated in the relaxation training programme had significantly lower self-reported anxiety levels and higher academic performance. Another study, conducted by Chen et al. (2016), aimed to assess the effectiveness of a diaphragmatic breathing relaxation training programme in reducing anxiety levels over an eight-week period. The experimental group received the training twice a week for the first four weeks, and once a week for the last four weeks. The results showed that participants in the experimental group had significantly lower levels of several physiological measures, including skin conductance and HR, compared to the control group. While the majority of research has demonstrated the effectiveness of relaxation training in reducing physiological arousal and self-reported anxiety over a longer period of training, Magnon et al. (2021) aimed to investigate the immediate reducing effects of a 5-minute deep and slow breathing exercise on physiological arousal and self-reported anxiety between older and younger adults. The results showed that self-reported anxiety and physiological arousal (HR) significantly decreased in both young and older adults after a single 5-minute relaxation exercise.

In addition to reducing physiological responses and self-reported anxiety, there are several other benefits that can be achieved through the use of relaxation exercises (Smith et al., 2018). For example, individuals can achieve self-reported calmness and focus, as well as a sense of control (Ghandeharioun & Picard, 2017; Smith et al., 2018). While the benefits of practising relaxation exercises have been demonstrated and discussed in previous research, to the author's knowledge, no studies have been conducted specifically investigating the immediate reducing effects of a single session of a RMIT on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA among students in higher education.

1.5. Hypotheses

The aim of the present study is to investigate whether a single session of a RMIT has immediate reducing effects on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA among students in higher education. Therefore, the following hypotheses and a sub-question guided this research and were formulated based on the theoretical framework:

- H1a: Following the RMIT, participants exhibit lower PR scores during subsequent presentation sessions.
- H1b: Following the RMIT, participants exhibit lower EDA scores during subsequent presentation sessions.
- H2a: Following the RMIT, participants report lower levels of perceived nervousness after subsequent presentation sessions.
- H2b: Following the RMIT, participants report higher levels of perceived control over their nervousness after subsequent presentation sessions.

The following sub-question was formulated to explore the qualitative part of hypotheses 2a and 2b:

 What are the underlying reasons for the ratings that participants gave to their perceived feelings of nervousness and control, both before and after the RMIT?

2. Method

This research started after approval from the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences of the University of Twente. The ethical review number of this research is 230090.

2.1. Research Design

The current study employed a mixed-method approach and a within-subjects design to assess whether a single session of a RMIT has immediate reducing effects on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA among students in higher education. Through the use of a mixed-method approach, which integrated both quantitative and qualitative data, the study provided a detailed, nuanced and multidimensional understanding of the subject matter (Wasti et al., 2022). The decision to use a within-subject design was made because it allowed repeated measures to be collected from each participant. By studying the same participants, this personalised approach provided a detailed understanding of the immediate reducing effects of the RMIT on participants' objective and subjective arousal of PSA. In addition, this design has the practical advantage of requiring fewer participants, as each participant contributes multiple measures (Simkus, 2023a).

2.2. Participants

The study sample consisted of adult participants (N = 13) studying at the University of Twente or at the Saxion University of Applied Sciences. The recruitment process included the distribution of electronic flyers via social media platforms such as WhatsApp and Instagram. In addition, physical flyers were distributed around the University of Twente (UT) campus to reach potential participants. To extend the recruitment efforts, the study also used the UT's SONA system, a platform that connects researchers with potential participants. Through these recruitment channels, interested individuals were invited to sign up for a 60-minute VR-based public speaking training session. The final sample included 5 male ($M^{Age} = 23.80$, $SD^{Age} = 1.79$) and 8 female ($M^{Age} = 24.13$, $SD^{Age} = 1.36$) participants, representing different disciplines and academic levels. Participants who registered via SONA received 2 SONA credits.

Convenience sampling was used to select participants to take part in the study at a specific time and place. To be eligible for participation, individuals had to meet certain criteria: they had to be at least 18 years old, enrolled as a student at a higher education institution in The Netherlands, and able to communicate in English. Exclusion criteria for the study included participants who refused to answer the questions during the semi-structured interviews or who did not complete the entire experiment. Fortunately, none of the participants met these exclusion criteria.

2.3. Procedure

Each participant was allocated a specific time and place to attend the session, which took place at the UT. Prior to the session, participants were notified and instructed to prepare a 5-minute presentation on a topic of their choice, which they would practise during the experiment. They were also asked to email their PowerPoint slides to the researcher in advance. The session consisted of five steps, including giving their 5-minute presentation three times and performing relaxation exercises. Prior to the experiment, participants received an information letter explaining the aims, procedures, potential risks and benefits of the study. They were also given the opportunity to ask questions and clarify any concerns before agreeing to participate. Importantly, participants were reassured that their participation was voluntary and informed of their right to withdraw from the study at any time. Once participants had read and understood the information letter, they were asked to sign a consent form indicating their agreement to participate. Following the consent process, participants were instructed to wear the EmbracePlus wristband on their non-dominant wrist as it played a critical role in collecting relevant physiological data throughout the experiment.

In the first step, participants were exposed to a virtual environment called 'Oculus First Contact' to familiarise them with the VR equipment. This VR experience allowed participants to interact with a robot, 3D printers and various gadgets. In the second step, the participants practised their 5-minute presentation using the OvationVR software (a VRbased public speaking training). In the third step, participants were introduced to the RMIT, which consisted of guiding them through a series of relaxation exercises for approximately 13 minutes. The RMIT was described to the participants as a listening task. During this step, participants wore headphones and sat in a chair behind a clean table to create a comfortable and focused environment. In the fourth and fifth steps, participants rehearsed their presentation again using the OvationVR software. After each presentation, semistructured interviews were conducted to allow participants to share their perceived feelings of nervousness and control. After the experiment, participants were debriefed to ensure they understood the purpose of the study and to address any questions or concerns they may have had. In total, the experiment took approximately 60 minutes for each participant.

2.4. Instruments and Experiment

The following instruments were used in this study:

OvationVR. The study used OvationVR software, a VR platform specifically designed to facilitate public speaking practice. This software provided participants with a virtual

environment in which they could deliver their presentations to a virtual audience. In addition, the software had the ability to pre-upload participants' PowerPoint slides. For the purposes of this study, participants practised their presentations in a lecture hall environment with an audience of approximately 20 virtual people. The Oculus Touch (hand controllers) and Oculus Rift S (headset) were used to facilitate interaction with the virtual environment and the audience.

Oculus First Contact. To ensure that participants were not directly exposed to the public speaking VR environment, Oculus First Contact was used as a preliminary experience to familiarise them with the VR technology and equipment. In Oculus First Contact, participants were transported into a virtual environment that resembled a futuristic, high-tech space. The environment consisted of interactive objects such as a robot, 3D printers and various gadgets. Using the Oculus headset and hand controllers, participants were able to perform activities such as picking up objects, throwing objects and interacting with the robot.

Relaxation micro-intervention training. To facilitate relaxation among participants, a 13-minute audio recording (see Appendix for the script) was used, which included a series of relaxation exercises. The audio recording was designed and recorded by an expert in relaxation exercises to provide a standardised approach to inducing relaxation in all participants. To ensure optimal audio quality, participants listened to the audio recording through noise-cancelling headphones connected to an HP laptop. These headphones were specifically chosen for their ability to reduce external noise and minimise potential distractions that could interfere with the relaxation process. In addition, the audio was played at the same volume for all participants to maintain consistency.

The EmbracePlus wristband. The EmbracePlus, a wristband, was used to record

participants' physiological responses in real time. This wristband has the ability to collect data from multiple physiological indicators, including PR, breathing patterns, skin conductance and temperature (Morillo & Demichela, 2023). Participants wore the EmbracePlus wristband on their non-dominant wrist, which connected to the CareLab smartphone app via Bluetooth and the internet (Denyer et al., 2022). Measurements were taken on the non-dominant wrist as there is less chance of movement, leaving the dominant hand free to hold the VR controller (Horvers et al., 2021). In this study, the EmbracePlus wristband was specifically used to non-invasively measure participants' PR and skin conductance (Vos et al., 2023). According to Shaffer & Ginsberg (2017), PR is a physiological measure that refers to the number of heart beats per minute. PR was measured using the photoplethysmography (PPG) sensor, which measures changes in blood volume at the wrist (Van Es et al., 2023). Skin conductance was measured using the EDA sensor, which measures changes in the electrical conductivity of the skin due to sweat gland activity (Busch et al., 2012; Horvers et al., 2021). Participants' PR and EDA, as recorded by the wristband, were aggregated at a rate of one value per minute, representing participants' average physiological responses during each minute of the three presentation sessions. For the analysis of the current study, data per participant were extracted from specific time intervals corresponding to the three presentation sessions.

Semi-structured interviews. In order to assess participants' perceived feelings of nervousness and control, semi-structured interviews were conducted using a set of two questions. The semi-structured interviews were conducted face-to-face, which allowed for direct interaction between the participants and the researcher (Saarijärvi et al., 2021). During the interviews, participants' responses were written down by the researcher to ensure documentation of their responses. The first question assessed participants'

25

perceived level of nervousness during each of the three presentation sessions, using a scale from 1 (not at all) to 10 (extremely). The second question assessed participants' perceived level of control over their nervousness during each of the three presentation sessions, also using a scale from 1 to 10. Each question was followed by a 'why' question to encourage participants to provide additional insight into their answers. Through the use of 'why' questions, the current study analysed the underlying reasons for the ratings that participants gave to their perceived nervousness and control, both before and after the RMIT. Participants' responses were selected due to their high frequency within the dataset, such as feeling nervous and having a low sense of control when facing an unfamiliar virtual audience, low nervousness and high sense of control due to the RMIT, or due to familiarity with the VR-based public speaking training.

2.5. Data Analysis

According to Luderer et al. (2022), the EmbracePlus wristband collects two types of data: raw data from the EmbracePlus sensors and digital biomarkers derived from the raw data using specific algorithms. As explained by Denyer et al. (2022), the collected data is securely transmitted via WiFi to the Empatica Cloud. In the Empatica Cloud, the recorded data is securely stored in an encrypted Amazon Web Services (AWS) S3 bucket. Access to this data required the installation of the CyberDuck software application and unique secret keys provided by Empatica (Denyer et al., 2022). The software securely stores PR and EDA data in comma-separated values (CSV) files. To simplify data management, the PR and EDA data extracted from specific time intervals corresponding to each participant's three presentation sessions were imported into a single Excel file. To analyse the PR and EDA data, the Excel file was imported into IBM SPSS Statistics version 28. The analytical techniques used are discussed in the results section.

The interview responses were recorded using Google Forms, which ensured a structured approach to data collection. To facilitate analysis and organisation, the recorded data was exported into a CSV file. The CSV file was then imported into Microsoft Excel for efficient data management. To analyse the interview responses, the Excel file was imported into IBM SPSS Statistics version 28. The analytical techniques used are discussed in the results section.

3. Results

3.1. Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 and Table 2 show the descriptive statistics of all participants' PR and EDA scores for the three 5-minute presentations.

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics of PR Scores Across Five Minutes of Each Presentation

	Presentation 1		Presentation 2		Presentation 3	
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Minute 1	99.16	20.52	91.86	14.68	79.85	9.30
Minute 2	101.31	19.22	92.85	14.82	86.92	11.30
Minute 3	103.08	13.70	92.23	13.70	93.08	12.16
Minute 4	103.38	14.31	93.69	14.35	94.08	13.63
Minute 5	103.00	13.34	93.23	16.07	94.62	16.82

Note. N = 13.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics of EDA Scores Across Five Minutes of Each Presentation

	Presentation 1		Presentation 2		Presentation 3	
-	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Minute 1	0.41	0.93	0.46	0.76	0.34	0.50
Minute 2	0.43	0.99	0.43	0.70	0.32	0.47
Minute 3	0.49	1.09	0.41	0.66	0.32	0.46
Minute 4	0.57	1.14	0.38	0.61	0.31	0.45
Minute 5	0.65	1.25	0.36	0.57	0.32	0.45

Note. N = 13.

Table 3 shows the descriptive statistics for the two interview questions asked after each presentation.

Table 3

Descriptive Statistics of Nervousness and Perceived Control Levels after Each Presentation

	Presentation 1		Presentation 2		Presentation 3	
-	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Level of nervousness	6.00	1.73	4.00	1.41	2.77	0.93
Level of control	5.62	1.56	7.08	1.12	8.08	0.76

Note. N = 13.

3.2. PR

3.2.1 Differences in PR Scores Between Presentation Sessions

Continuous data collection of participants' PR behaviour was conducted throughout the five-minute duration of the three presentation sessions. To gain a full understanding of the changes in participants' PR scores during the three 5-minute presentation sessions, a line graph was first created to examine and illustrate the minute-to-minute changes. Figure 1 presents the mean PR scores per minute, with each presentation represented by a separate line.

Figure 1



Mean PR Scores per Minute during the Three 5-Minute Presentation Sessions

Of the three presentation sessions, Figure 1 shows that participants' PR scores were highest during the first presentation session and fluctuated throughout the five minutes. In contrast to the first presentation session, participants' PR scores for the second presentation session show a more consistent pattern of lower PR scores. A similar trend can be seen in the line showing participants' PR scores for the third presentation session, which starts lower than the line of the first and second presentation sessions. However, there is an interesting increase between the third and fifth minute. Overall, Figure 1 shows differences in participants' mean PR scores across the three presentation sessions, with different patterns of increase, decrease and stability over the five minute period. These results provide valuable insights into participants' PR behaviour within each presentation session, highlighting the differences in responses between the three sessions.

To determine whether there were significant changes in participants' PR scores, the data were analysed. Prior to analysis, the data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-

Wilk test. The test results indicated a non-normal distribution ($p \le 0.05$). As a result, the assumptions necessary to conduct a repeated measures ANOVA were not met. Alternative non-parametric tests were therefore used, namely the Friedman test and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. To address the potential concern of multiple comparisons, the Holm-Bonferroni correction was applied (Giacalone et al., 2019).

A Friedman test was performed to examine any differences in participants' PR scores during the first minute between the three presentation sessions. The Friedman test revealed a significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 9.88$, p = 0.007. Further analysis using post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Holm-Bonferroni correction confirmed this finding. These tests showed no significant difference between the first presentation session (Mdn = 98.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 92.00), Z = -2.001, p = 0.045 (adjusted alpha level: 0.0125). There was, however, a significant difference between the second presentation session (Mdn = 92.00) and the third presentation session (Mdn = 77.00), Z = -2.761, p = 0.006 (adjusted alpha level: 0.006). This result suggests that there was a significant decrease in participants' PR scores during the first minute of the third presentation session compared to the second presentation session.

A Friedman test was also performed to examine any differences in participants' PR scores during the second minute between the three presentation sessions. The Friedman test revealed a significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 9.64$, p = 0.008. However, further analysis using post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Holm-Bonferroni correction did not confirm this finding. These tests showed no significant difference between the first presentation session (Mdn = 105.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00), Z = -2.450, p = 0.014 (adjusted alpha level: 0.008). There was also no significant difference between the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00), Z = -2.450, p = 0.014 (adjusted alpha level: 0.008). There was also no significant difference between the

(Mdn = 85.00), Z = -2.119, p = 0.034 (adjusted alpha level: 0.01).

Furthermore, a Friedman test was performed to examine any differences in participants' PR scores during the third minute between the three presentation sessions. The Friedman test revealed a significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 9.23$, p = 0.010. Further analysis using post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Holm-Bonferroni correction confirmed this finding. These tests showed a significant difference between the first presentation session (Mdn = 104.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00), Z = -2.834, p = 0.005(adjusted alpha level: 0.006). This result suggests that there was a significant decrease in participants' PR scores during the third minute of the second presentation session compared to the first presentation session. There was, however, no significant difference between the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00) and the third presentation session (Mdn = 92.00), Z = -0.060, p = 0.952 (adjusted alpha level: 0.05).

Moreover, a Friedman test was performed to examine any differences in participants' PR scores during the fourth minute between the three presentation sessions. The Friedman test revealed a significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 13.15$, p = 0.001. Further analysis using post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Holm-Bonferroni correction confirmed this finding. These tests showed a significant difference between the first presentation session (Mdn = 107.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00), Z = -3.079, p = 0.002 (adjusted alpha level: 0.005). This result suggests that there was a significant decrease in participants' PR scores during the fourth minute of the second presentation session compared to the first presentation session. However, there was no significant difference between the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00) and the third presentation session (Mdn = 94.00), Z = -0.409, p = 0.682 (adjusted alpha level: 0.0167). Finally, a Friedman test was performed to examine any differences in participants' PR scores during the fifth minute between the three presentation sessions. The Friedman test revealed a significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 7.39$, p = 0.025. However, further analysis using post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Holm-Bonferroni correction did not confirm this finding. These tests showed no significant difference between the first presentation session (Mdn = 106.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 90.00), Z = -2.590, p = 0.010 (adjusted alpha level: 0.007). There was also no significant difference between the second presentation session (Mdn = 91.00), Z = -0.350, p = 0.726 (adjusted alpha level: 0.025).

3.3. EDA

3.3.1 Differences in EDA Scores between Presentation Sessions

Continuous data collection of participants' EDA behaviour was conducted throughout the five-minute duration of the three presentation sessions. To gain a full understanding of the changes in participants' EDA scores during the three 5-minute presentation sessions, a line graph was first created to examine and illustrate the minute-tominute changes. Figure 2 presents the mean EDA scores per minute, with each presentation represented by a separate line.

Figure 2



Mean EDA Scores per Minute during the Three 5-Minute Presentation Sessions

Figure 2 shows that participants' EDA scores were initially lower during the first minute of the first presentation session, but increased with each passing minute. In contrast, participants' EDA scores were initially higher during the first minute of the second presentation session compared to the first presentation session, but decreased with each passing minute. The line of the third presentation session shows the lowest EDA scores of the three presentation sessions. This line starts from a lower point and remains constant throughout the five minutes compared to the line of the first and second presentation sessions. Overall, Figure 2 shows differences in participants' EDA scores between the three presentation sessions, with different patterns of increase, decrease, and stability over the five minute period. These results provide valuable insights into participants' EDA behaviour within each presentation session, highlighting the differences in responses between the three sessions.

To determine whether there were significant changes in participants' EDA scores, the

data were analysed. Prior to analysis, the data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The test results indicated a non-normal distribution ($p \le 0.05$). As a result, the assumptions necessary to conduct a repeated measures ANOVA were not met. An alternative non-parametric test was therefore used, namely the Friedman test.

Friedman tests were performed to examine possible differences in participants' EDA scores during the first, second, third, fourth and fifth minutes between the three presentation sessions. The Friedman tests revealed no significant differences in scores across the five minutes between the three presentation sessions. For the first minute, the Friedman test showed no significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 5.86$, p = 0.053. For the second minute, the Friedman test also showed no significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 3.46$, p = 0.178. Similarly, for the third minute, the Friedman test showed no significant methers the showed no significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 2.087$, p = 0.352. Furthermore, for the fourth minute, the Friedman test showed no significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 0.304$, p = 0.859. Finally, for the fifth minute, the Friedman test showed no significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 0.809$, p = 0.667.

3.4. Level of Nervousness and Control

To determine whether there were significant changes in participants' self-reported levels of nervousness and control, the data were analysed. Prior to analysis, the data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The test results indicated a non-normal distribution for both questions ($p \le 0.05$). As a result, the assumptions necessary to conduct a repeated measures ANOVA were not met. Alternative non-parametric tests were therefore used, namely the Friedman test and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. To address the potential concern of multiple comparisons, the Bonferroni correction was applied (Armstrong et al., 2014). For the first question regarding participants' perceived level of nervousness during the three presentation sessions, a Friedman test was used to examine any differences between these sessions. The Friedman test showed a significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 22.82$, p = <0.001. Further analysis using post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Bonferroni correction confirmed this finding. These tests showed a significant difference between the first presentation session (Mdn = 6.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 4.00), Z = -3.108, p = 0.002 (adjusted alpha level: 0.0125). There was also a significant difference between the second presentation session and the third presentation session (Mdn = 3.00), Z = -2.722, p = 0.006 (adjusted alpha level: 0.0125). These results suggest that there were significant decreases in the perceived level of nervousness experienced by participants during the second and third presentation sessions, following the RMIT.

For the second question regarding participants' perceived level of control during the three presentation sessions, a Friedman test was used to examine any differences between these sessions. The Friedman test showed a significant main effect, $\chi^2(2) = 25.12$, p = <0.001. Further analysis using post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Bonferroni correction confirmed this finding. These tests showed a significant difference between the first presentation session (Mdn = 6.00) and the second presentation session (Mdn = 7.00), Z = -3.305, p = <0.001 (adjusted alpha level: 0.0125). There was also a significant difference between the second presentation session (Mdn = 8.00), Z = -3.127, p = 0.002 (adjusted alpha level: 0.0125). These results suggest that were significant increases in the perceived level of control experienced by participants during the second and third presentation sessions, following the RMIT.

3.4.1 Participants' Experiences of Nervousness and Control

For the sub-question '*What are the underlying reasons for the ratings that participants gave to their perceived feelings of nervousness and control, both before and after the RMIT*', this section will focus on discussing the reasons that participants gave for rating their perceived level of nervousness and control they experienced during each presentation session.

After the first presentation session, some participants stated that they felt nervous because they were presenting to an unfamiliar audience. The feeling of being watched by the virtual audience also increased their nervousness during the presentation. For example, one participant said: '*The virtual audience was moving around, looking at me and staring at me, and that made me even more nervous*'. However, a number of participants also reported feeling more nervous during real-life presentations than when presenting to a virtual audience. For example, one participant shared: '*I did not feel really nervous because I know that the people in the virtual audience are not real people judging or evaluating me.* '

When asked to rate their sense of control, participants mentioned that feeling uncomfortable in front of the virtual audience further contributed to their lack of control over their nervousness. One participant said: *'I tried to focus on someone in the audience with a positive attitude, but I felt uncomfortable under their gaze, which made it difficult to concentrate on my presentation.'* In addition, the struggle to stay focused and calm led to some participants not knowing what to say at certain points or forgetting important points during their presentation. For example, one participant said: *'There were times during the presentation when I was not calm and had difficulty remembering what I wanted to say.'*

When participants' perceived levels of nervousness and control during the second and third presentation sessions (following the RMIT) were analysed, a positive change was observed. After the second and third presentation sessions, a number of participants expressed that the RMIT helped them to develop a greater sense of relaxation, calmness and focus, resulting in them feeling less nervous and more in control when presenting. For example, one participant said: 'I was less nervous because I felt more comfortable, relaxed and calm in the virtual environment after the listening task.' Another participant said: 'The listening task made me feel in control and focused. I also took a breath before I started and tried to stay calm throughout the presentation.' However, some participants reported that the familiarity of the environment and the presence of the same audience made them feel less nervous. For example, one participant said: 'I felt more calm and relaxed compared to the first presentation because I was more familiar with the information I wanted to present.' The familiarity of the environment and the presence of the same audience also made me feel more calm and relaxed. ' Another participant said: 'I felt more in control of my nerves because I knew what to expect, which made it easier to anticipate the VR environment.'

4. Discussion

The present study aimed to investigate whether a single session of a RMIT has immediate reducing effects on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA among students in higher education.

4.1. Interpreting Results of the Objective Measurements

4.1.1. PR

For hypothesis 1a 'Following the RMIT, participants exhibit lower PR scores during subsequent presentation sessions', the results showed a significant decrease in participants' PR scores during the first minute from the second to the third presentation session, but not from the first to the second presentation session. A significant decrease in participants' PR scores was also observed during the third and fourth minutes from the first to the second presentation session. However, no significant difference was found during the third and fourth minutes from the second to the third presentation session. In addition, no significant differences were found during the second and fifth minutes from the first to the second presentation session, nor from the second to the third presentation session. The potential immediate impact of the RMIT in reducing participants' PR behaviour is highlighted by the decreases observed over these three time intervals.

The significant decreases in participants' PR scores observed are consistent with previous research demonstrating the effects of relaxation exercises on physiological responses (e.g. Amutio et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2017; Magnon et al., 2021). For example, the study by Magnon et al. (2021) showed that a single 5-minute relaxation exercise resulted in a significant reduction in HR in both young and older adults. In addition, Chen et al. (2016) found that participants who underwent a diaphragmatic breathing relaxation training programme over an eight-week period had significantly lower HR compared to the control group. In this study, participants performed relaxation exercises specifically designed to induce a state of relaxation. During this state of relaxation, activation of the PNS likely facilitated a calming effect on the ANS, which is active when people experience anxiety in stressful situations (Chen et al., 2016; Flor et al., 2013; Tian et al., 2018; Quintana & Heathers, 2014). As a result, participants' bodies were in a relaxed state, which likely led to decreases in participants' PR scores across these three time intervals (Liou et al., 2014, as cited in Chen et al., 2016; Seo et al., 2016).

However, it is important to consider the potential contribution of the habituation effect. In particular, participants were exposed to the VR-public speaking training three times, which may have played a crucial role in inducing the habituation effect (Zacarin et al., 2019; Yadav et al., 2022). This suggests that the repetition of the three presentation sessions likely facilitated a degree of familiarity with the VR environment, which may have led to decreases in participants' PR scores over the three time intervals. This phenomenon was investigated in previous research by Yadav et al. (2022), where the results showed that repeated exposure to a virtual audience reduced participants' physiological symptoms of PSA. Therefore, both the habituation effect and the RMIT should be considered as potential factors influencing the observed decreases in participants' PR scores over the three time intervals. The habituation effect may have promoted familiarity with the VR-based public speaking training, while the RMIT may have enabled participants to achieve a state of relaxation.

While significant decreases in participants' PR scores were found in the first minute from the second to the third presentation session and in the third and fourth minutes from the first to the second presentation session, the lack of significant differences in the other time intervals may be due to the sensitivity of non-parametric tests (Aandahl, 2022). Nonparametric tests such as the Wilcoxon signed-rank test may have limited power to detect differences in non-normally distributed data (Aandahl, 2022). In addition, the Holm-Bonferroni correction was applied to address the potential concern of multiple comparisons (Giacalone et al., 2019). Consequently, this may have influenced the lack of significance for the other time intervals.

4.1.2. EDA

For hypothesis 1b 'Following the RMIT, participants exhibit lower EDA scores during subsequent presentation sessions', the results showed no significant main effect on participants' EDA scores over the entire five-minute period between the three presentation sessions. Although significant decreases in participants' PR scores were observed over three time intervals, there are several possible reasons for the lack of a significant main finding for the EDA scores. First, the lack of a significant main finding may be due to the relatively low EDA scores that participants exhibited during the three presentation sessions. Looking at the descriptive statistics, participants' PR and EDA scores were generally not exceptionally high during the presentation sessions, especially EDA was relatively low. Although VR for public speaking is known to induce anxiety and increase participants' EDA scores (Owens & Beidel, 2014), it is possible that participants in the current study did not perceive the VR-based public speaking training as highly anxiety-provoking. These relatively low EDA scores, combined with a small sample size and the use of a non-parametric test, may have hindered the detection of significant changes (Aandahl, 2022). Finally, although the EmbracePlus wristband provided a convenient and non-invasive approach in the current study, it may not be as sensitive in detecting EDA responses as more invasive methods. Invasive methods,

such as hand or finger electrodes, involve sensors on the fingertips or on the palm of the hand where there is a high density of sweat glands (Anderson et al., 2017; Horvers et al., 2021). These sensors provide direct and close contact with the skin, allowing for more sensitive recordings of EDA (Horvers et al., 2021). On the other hand, the EmbracePlus wristband measures EDA from the wrist, where the density of sweat glands is lower compared to areas such as the palm or fingertips (Horvers et al., 2021).

4.2. Interpreting Results of the Semi-Structured Interviews

For hypothesis 2a 'Following the RMIT, participants report lower levels of perceived nervousness after subsequent presentation sessions', the results showed that participants reported significant decreases in their perceived nervousness from the first to the second presentation session and from the second to the third presentation session. For hypothesis 2b 'Following the RMIT, participants report higher levels of perceived control over their nervousness after subsequent presentation sessions', the results showed that participants reported significant increases in their perceived control from the first to the second presentation session and from the second to the third presentation session. The observed decreases and increases highlight the potential immediate effects of the RMIT on participants' perceived nervousness and control.

For the sub-question '*What are the underlying reasons for the ratings that participants gave to their perceived feelings of nervousness and control, both before and after the RMIT*', participants reported feeling nervous during the first presentation session because they were presenting to an unfamiliar audience, and the feeling of being watched by the virtual audience also increased their nervousness. In addition, participants expressed that they felt uncomfortable in front of the virtual audience, which contributed to their lack of control over their nervousness. Moreover, the struggle to stay focused and calm meant that some participants did not know what to say at certain points or forgot important points during the presentation. However, a number of participants also reported that they felt more nervous during real-life presentations than when presenting to a virtual audience. After the second and third presentation sessions, participants' specific responses indicated that the RMIT helped them to develop a greater sense of relaxation, calmness and focus, resulting in them feeling less nervous and more in control when presenting. These findings are consistent with previous research by Aritzeta et al. (2017) and Magnon et al. (2021), both of which demonstrated that relaxation exercises led to significant decreases in selfreported anxiety. It is also consistent with previous research by Ghandeharioun and Picard (2017) and Smith et al. (2018), which highlighted the benefits of relaxation exercises on selfreported calmness and focus, and feelings of control. However, some participants also mentioned in their responses that repeating their presentation three times helped them to become more familiar with the VR environment and the virtual audience, resulting in them feeling less nervous and more in control when presenting. This suggests that repeating their presentation three times in the VR environment has played a role in inducing the habituation effect for some participants (Zacarin et al., 2019; Yadav et al., 2022). This is consistent with the work of Yadav et al. (2022) and Kahlon et al. (2019), who demonstrated that repeated exposure to a virtual audience reduced participants' self-reported symptoms of PSA. In summary, participants' responses suggest that the influence of the habituation effect and the RMIT can be considered as factors influencing the results. The habituation effect promoted familiarity for some participants, while the RMIT enabled others to achieve a state of relaxation, both of which led to reduced nervousness and improved control during the subsequent presentation sessions.

4.3. Limitations and Future Research

The current study has several limitations that should be taken into account when interpreting the results. First, the lack of a control group primarily limits the ability to draw definitive conclusions about the immediate reducing effects of the RMIT on participants' objective arousal of PSA. Without a control group, it is difficult to determine whether the observed changes in participants' PR scores across the three time intervals were solely due to the RMIT, or influenced by the repetition of the VR-based public speaking training, or both (Simkus, 2023a). However, participants' responses provided valuable insights into their perceived feelings of nervousness and control. These responses included participants reporting that they felt more relaxed, calm and focused after the RMIT, which led to them feeling less nervous and more in control when presenting in the VR environment. Another important limitation of our study is the small sample size. Due to the limited number of participants, the data showed a non-normal distribution pattern. Hence, non-parametric tests, specifically the Friedman and Wilcoxon signed rank tests, were used as more appropriate alternatives. Although these non-parametric tests were appropriate for the data characteristics of the study, it is important to recognise that they generally have less statistical power than parametric tests and that they carry a risk of Type I error (Aandahl, 2022; Jiang et al., 2008). Therefore, it is likely that the study failed to detect significant changes in participants' PR scores at all time intervals and failed to detect a significant main effect in participants' EDA scores. Moreover, the limited number of participants was mainly due to challenges encountered during the recruitment process. Several potential participants decided not to register because of the effort required to prepare a 5-minute presentation and actively participate in a 60-minute on-site experiment.

A crucial aspect for future research would be to implement a between-subjects

design that includes both an intervention group that receives the RMIT and a control group that does not receive the RMIT. A control group is primarily essential in order to draw definitive conclusions about the immediate reducing effects of a single session of a RMIT on reducing participants' objective arousal of PSA. By comparing the physiological responses of the experimental group with those of the control group, researchers can determine whether any observed changes in participants' physiological indicators are due to the RMIT alone, or influenced by the VR-based public speaking training, or both (Simkus, 2023b). Second, given the lack of a statistically significant main effect in participants' EDA and the relatively low EDA scores observed during the three presentation sessions, future researchers are encouraged to use electrodes on the fingertips or palm of the hand. As the high density of sweat glands is most pronounced in these areas, EDA recordings are most promising when measured on the palm or fingertips (Horvers et al., 2021). As a result of this increased sensitivity, researchers may be able to better study changes in participants' EDA scores. Moreover, researchers might consider having participants give impromptu speeches rather than prepared presentations as a strategy to elicit stronger and more observable EDA responses. This approach was found by Owens and Beidel (2014) to increase participants' skin conductance levels while presenting to a virtual audience. Finally, future research should prioritise addressing the limitation of a small sample size in the current study. By increasing the sample size, future studies can improve statistical power, allowing for more sensitive detection of significant effects (Aandahl, 2022). To achieve a larger sample size, future researchers are advised to use alternative recruitment strategies, such as using incentives, face-to-face recruitment, and working with professors and departments that emphasise the importance of public speaking and reducing PSA (Felsen et al., 2010; Kubicek & Robles, 2016; Negrin et al., 2022).

4.4. Theoretical and Practical Implications

The results of this study have both theoretical and practical implications for the understanding and application of relaxation training in the context of addressing PSA. While the majority of previous studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of relaxation training in reducing physiological symptoms and self-reported anxiety over an extended period of training (e.g. Amutio et al., 2014; Aritzeta et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2017), the theoretical contribution of this study lies in its exploration of the immediate reducing effects of a single session of a RMIT on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA among students in higher education. The results of the present study support previous research by Chen et al. (2016) and Magnon et al. (2021), both of which demonstrated the potential of relaxation exercises to reduce physiological responses (e.g. HR, skin conductance) in a variety of contexts. Specifically, the results of the current study showed that participants' PR scores decreased significantly across three time intervals following the RMIT. In addition, the results of the study provide valuable insights into participants' perceived feelings of nervousness and control, with participants reporting decreases in nervousness and increases in control following the RMIT. In particular, a number of participants expressed that the RMIT helped them to develop a greater sense of relaxation, calmness and focus, resulting in them feeling less nervous and more in control when presenting. These findings are consistent with previous research by Aritzeta et al. (2017) and Magnon et al. (2021), both of which demonstrated that relaxation exercises led to significant decreases in selfreported anxiety. It is also consistent with previous research by Ghandeharioun and Picard (2017) and Smith et al. (2018), which highlighted the benefits of relaxation exercises on selfreported calmness and focus, and feelings of control. However, the current study also recognises the habituation effect of repeated exposure to the VR-based public speaking

training. This phenomenon was previously studied by Yadav et al. (2022) and Kahlon et al. (2019), both of which demonstrated that repeated exposure to a virtual audience reduced participants' self-reported symptoms of PSA. The present study found similar results, with some participants reporting decreases in self-reported nervousness and increases in selfreported control as a result of repeating their presentation three times, leading to familiarity with the VR environment and the virtual audience. Using both physiological indicators (i.e. PR and EDA) and a self-report method (i.e. semi-structured interviews), the current study provided a detailed, nuanced and multidimensional understanding of whether a single session of RMIT has immediate reducing effects on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA among students in higher education.

The current study of a single session of a RMIT and its immediate reducing effects on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA has practical implications for (VR) public speaking training programmes in the use of anxiety-reducing strategies. Previous research by Aritzeta et al. (2017), Chen et al. (2016), and Magnon et al. (2021) has demonstrated the potential of relaxation exercises to reduce self-reported anxiety and decrease physiological responses (e.g. HR, skin conductance) in a variety of contexts. Similarly, Ghandeharioun and Picard (2017) and Smith et al. (2018) have highlighted the benefits of relaxation exercises on self-reported calmness and focus, and feelings of control. Building on this existing literature, the current study demonstrated that incorporating a single session of a RMIT into VR-based public speaking training can lead to several positive outcomes, including decreases in participants' PR scores across three time intervals, decreases in self-reported nervousness, and increases in self-reported control. Specifically, a number of participants expressed that the RMIT helped them to develop a greater sense of relaxation, calmness and focus, resulting in them feeling less nervous and more in control when presenting. Professionals involved in (VR) public speaking training programmes could consider incorporating relaxation training as a practical, immediate and accessible approach to help individuals manage and reduce both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA. Furthermore, as relaxation exercises can be used in a variety of situations and places (Hamdani et al., 2022; Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2020), individuals can perform them prior to a real-life presentation. However, some participants benefited from repeating their presentation three times, demonstrating the need for flexibility in this approach. This is consistent with previous research by Yadav et al. (2022) and Kahlon et al. (2019), both of which demonstrated that repeated exposure to a virtual audience reduced participants' self-reported symptoms of PSA. Incorporating both relaxation training and habituation-based methods into (VR) public speaking training programmes allows individual preferences to be taken into account and results to be optimised.

In conclusion, the RMIT demonstrated immediate decreases in both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA. Specifically, participants' PR scores decreased across three time intervals, self-reported nervousness decreased, and self-reported control increased. However, no significant main effect was found for participants' EDA scores. Although these findings suggest the potential immediate reducing effects of the RMIT, it is important to acknowledge that the study had no control group and a small sample size, which limits the ability to draw definitive conclusions. While a number of participants' responses indicated that the RMIT helped them to develop a greater sense of relaxation, calmness and focus during their presentations, others attributed this to the familiarity gained from repeating their presentation three times in the VR environment. To gain a true understanding of the immediate reducing effects of the RMIT, future research should employ a larger sample size and a control group. Nevertheless, the current study provides valuable insights into the potential benefits of brief relaxation interventions for immediate anxiety management in the context of public speaking. Furthermore, the findings highlight the importance of further research in this area to fully explore and understand the true immediate reducing effects of the RMIT on both the objective and subjective arousal of PSA.

References

Aandahl, E.M. (2022). Parametric versus nonparametric tests.

https://ledidi.com/academy/parametric-versus-nonparametric-tests

- Amutio, A., Martínez-Taboada, C., Hermosilla, D., & Delgado, L. E. (2014). Enhancing
 relaxation states and positive emotions in physicians through a mindfulness training
 program: A one-year study. *Psychology Health & Medicine*, *20*(6), 720-731.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2014.986143
- Anderson, A. P., Mayer, M., Fellows, A. M., Cowan, D. C., Hegel, M. T., & Buckey, J. C. (2017).
 Relaxation with immersive natural scenes presented using virtual reality. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 88(6), 520-526.

https://doi.org/10.3357/amhp.4747.2017

- Aritzeta, A., Soroa, G., Balluerka, N., Muela, A., Gorostiaga, A., & Aliri, J. (2017). Reducing anxiety and improving academic performance through a biofeedback relaxation training program. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback*, 42(3), 193-202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10484-017-9367-z
- Armstrong, R. A. (2014). When to use the Bonferroni correction. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, *34*(5), 502-508. https://doi.org/10.1111/opo.12131
- Atal, D., & Kızılışıkoğlu, G. (2022). Comparison of the anxiety levels of teacher candidates during actual and 360° video virtual reality presentations. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning 5*(4), 981-999.

https://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1164117

Barrett, L. F. (2006). Solving the emotion paradox: Categorization and the experience of emotion. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *10*(1), 20-46.
 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327957pspr1001 2

Behnke, R. R., & Sawyer, C. R. (1998). Conceptualising speech anxiety as a dynamic trait. Southern Communication Journal, 63(2), 160-168. https://doi.org/10.1080/10417949809373086

Bell, L., Vogt, J., Willemse, C., Routledge, T., Butler, L., & Sakaki, M. (2018). Beyond selfreport: A review of physiological and neuroscientific methods to investigate consumer behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01655

- Bodie, G. D. (2010). A racing heart, rattling knees, and ruminative thoughts: Defining,
 explaining, and treating public speaking anxiety. *Communication Education*, *59*(1),
 70-105. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634520903443849
- Busch, V., Magerl, W., Kern, U., Haas, J. R., Hajak, G., & Eichhammer, P. (2012). The effect of deep and slow breathing on pain perception, autonomic activity, and mood processing An experimental study. *Pain Medicine*, *13*(2), 215-228.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01243.x
- Chen, Y. F., Huang, X. Y., Chien, C. H., & Cheng, J. F. (2016). The effectiveness of diaphragmatic breathing relaxation training for reducing anxiety. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 53(4), 329-336. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12184

Davis, A., Linvill, D. L., Hodges, L. F., Da Costa, A. F., & Lee, A. (2019). Virtual reality versus face-to-face practice: A study into situational apprehension and performance.
 Communication Education, 69(1), 70-84.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2019.1684535

Decker, J. T., Brown, J. L. C., Ashley, W., & Lipscomb, A. E. (2019). Mindfulness, meditation, and breathing exercises: reduced anxiety for clients and self-care for social work interns. *Social Work With Groups*, *42*(4), 308-322.
https://doi.org/10.1080/01609513.2019.1571763

Denyer, H., Ramos-Quiroga, J. A., Folarin, A., Ramos, C., Nemeth, P., Bilbow, A., Woodward,
E., Whitwell, S., Müller-Sedgwick, U., Larsson, H., Dobson, R., & Kuntsi, J. (2022).
ADHD remote technology study of cardiometabolic risk factors and medication
adherence (ART-CARMA): A multi-centre prospective cohort study protocol. *BMC Psychiatry*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-022-04429-6

- DiBartolo, P. M., & Molina, K. M. (2010). A brief, self-directed written cognitive exercise to reduce public speaking anxiety in college courses. *Communication Teacher*, *24*(3), 160-164. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2010.490230
- Dimitriev, D., Saperova, E., & Dimitriev, A. D. (2016). State anxiety and nonlinear dynamics of heart rate variability in students. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(1), e0146131. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146131
- Dincer, B., Ozcelik, S. K., Özer, Z., & Bahçecik, N. (2020). Breathing therapy and emotional freedom techniques on public speaking anxiety in Turkish nursing students: A randomised controlled study. *EXPLORE*, *18*(2), 226-233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2020.11.006

Docan-Morgan, T., & Schmidt, T. (2012). Reducing public speaking anxiety for native and non-native English speakers: The value of systematic desensitisation, cognitive restructuring, and skills training. *Cross-Cultural Communication*, 8(5), 16-19. https://doi.org/10.3968/j.ccc.1923670020120805.2018

- Dodo, N., & Hashimoto, R. (2019). Autonomic nervous system activity during a speech task. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00406
- Ebrahimi, O. V., Pallesen, S., Kenter, R. M. F., & Nordgreen, T. (2019). Psychological interventions for the fear of public speaking: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00488

Felnhofer, A., Kothgassner, O. D., Hetterle, T., Beutl, L., Hlavacs, H., & Kryspin-Exner, I. (2014). Afraid to be there? Evaluating the relation between presence, self-reported anxiety, and heart rate in a virtual public speaking task. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 17(5), 310-316. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2013.0472

Felsen, C. B., Shaw, E., Ferrante, J., Lacroix, L. J., & Crabtree, B. F. (2010). Strategies for inperson recruitment: Lessons learned from a New Jersey primary care research network (NJPCRN) study. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 23(4), 523-533. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2010.04.090096

Flor, R. K., Monir, K. C., Bita, A., & Shahnaz, N. (2013). Effect of relaxation training on working memory capacity and academic achievement in adolescents. *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 82, 608-613.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.318

- Frisby, B. N., Kaufmann, R., Vallade, J. I., Frey, T. K., & Martin, J. C. (2020). Using virtual reality for speech rehearsals: an innovative instructor approach to enhance student public speaking efficacy. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 32(1), 59-78. https://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol32/iss1/6/
- Gaffey, A. E., & Wirth, M. M. (2014). Physiological arousal. *Springer EBooks*, 4807-4810. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5_2169

Gallego, A., McHugh, L., Penttonen, M., & Lappalainen, R. (2021). Measuring public speaking anxiety: Self-report, behavioural, and physiological. *Behavior Modification*, *46*(4), 782-798. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445521994308

Gallego, A. I., McHugh, L., Villatte, M., & Lappalainen, R. (2020). Examining the relationship between public speaking anxiety, distress tolerance and psychological flexibility. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *16*, 128-133.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.04.003

- Ghandeharioun, A., & Picard, R. W. (2017). BrightBeat: Effortlessly influencing breathing for cultivating calmness and focus. CHI EA '17: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 1624-1631.
 https://doi.org/10.1145/3027063.3053164
- Giacalone, M., Zirilli, A., Cozzucoli, P. C., & Alibrandi, A. (2018). Bonferroni-holm and permutation tests to compare health data: methodological and applicative issues. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0540-8
- Giannakakis, G., Grigoriadis, D., Giannakaki, K., Simantiraki, O., Roniotis, A., & Tsiknakis, M. (2019). Review on psychological stress detection using biosignals. *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing*, *13*(1), 440-460. https://doi.org/10.1109/taffc.2019.2927337
- Gruber, A., & Kaplan-Rakowski, R. (2022). The impact of high-immersion virtual reality on foreign language anxiety when speaking in public. *Social Science Research Network*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3882215
- Gufriyansyah, R., & Khairani, M. (2019). An experiment of public speaking anxiety on college students. In Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Psychology ICPsy, 1, 5–11. https://doi.org/10.5220/0009433900050011

- Hadinejad, A., Moyle, B. D., Kralj, A., & Scott, N. (2019). Physiological and self-report methods to the measurement of emotion in tourism. *Tourism Recreation Research*, *44*(4), 466-478. https://doi.org/10.1080/02508281.2019.1604937
- Hamdani, S. U., Zill-E-Huma, Zafar, S. B., Suleman, N., Um-Ul-Baneen, Waqas, A., & Rahman,
 A. (2022). Effectiveness of relaxation techniques 'as an active ingredient of psychological interventions' to reduce distress, anxiety and depression in adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-022-00541-y
- Hofmann, S. G., & DiBartolo, P. M. (2000). An instrument to assess self-statements during public speaking: Scale development and preliminary psychometric properties.
 Behavior Therapy, 31(3), 499-515. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7894(00)80027-1
- Horvers, A., Tombeng, N., Bosse, T., Lazonder, A. W., & Molenaar, I. (2021). Detecting emotions through electrodermal activity in learning contexts: A systematic review.
 Sensors, 21(23), 7869. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21237869
- Hu, F., Deng, Y., Saad, W., Bennis, M., & Aghvami, A. H. (2020). Cellular-connected wireless virtual reality: Requirements, challenges, and solutions. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, *58*(5), 105-111. https://doi.org/10.1109/mcom.001.1900511
- Jacobs, S. C., Friedman, R. B., Parker, J. D., Tofler, G. H., Jiménez, A., Muller, J. E., Benson, H.,
 & Stone, P. H. (1994). Use of skin conductance changes during mental stress testing as an index of autonomic arousal in cardiovascular research. *American Heart Journal*, *128*(6), 1170-1177. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-8703(94)90748-x

Jiang, H., Symanowski, J. T., Paul, S., Qu, Y., Zagar, A., & Hong, S. (2008). The type I error and power of non-parametric logrank and Wilcoxon tests with adjustment for covariates
- A simulation study. *Statistics in Medicine*, *27*(28), 5850-5860.
https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.3406

Kahlon, S., Lindner, P., & Nordgreen, T. (2019). Virtual reality exposure therapy for adolescents with fear of public speaking: A non-randomized feasibility and pilot study. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-019-0307-y

- Kalra, R., & Siribud, S. (2020). Public speaking anxiety in the Thai efl context. *LEARN Journal: Language Education and Acquisition Research Network*, *13*(1), 195-209.
 http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1242957.pdf
- Kimani, E., Shamekhi, A., & Bickmore, T. (2021). Just breathe: Towards real-time intervention for public speaking anxiety. *Smart Health*, *19*, 100146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smhl.2020.100146
- Kryston, K., Goble, H., & Eden, A. (2021). Incorporating virtual reality training in an introductory public speaking course. *Journal of Communication Pedagogy*, 4, 131-151. https://doi.org/10.31446/jcp.2021.1.13

Kubicek, K., & Robles, M. (2016). Tips and tricks for successful research recruitment: A toolkit for a community-based approach. Southern California Clinical and Translational Science Institute grant UL1TR001855. https://scctsi.org/uploads/resources/recruitment_retention_toolkit.pdf

Li, T. (2020). Analysis on the causes and treatment of public speaking anxiety. Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research. 466, 514-518. https://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.200826.103

- Lim, M. Y., Aryadoust, V., & Esposito, G. (2022). A meta-analysis of the effect of virtual reality on reducing public speaking anxiety. *Current Psychology*, 42(15), 12912-12928. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02684-6
- Lin, P. H., Chang, J. S., Zemon, V., & Midlarsky, E. (2007). Silent illumination: a study on Chan (Zen) meditation, anxiety, and musical performance quality. *Psychology of Music*, *36*(2), 139-155. https://doi.org/10.1177/0305735607080840
- Lindner, P., Dagöö, J., Hamilton, W., Miloff, A., Andersson, G., Schill, A., & Carlbring, P.
 (2020). Virtual reality exposure therapy for public speaking anxiety in routine care: a single-subject effectiveness trial. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, *50*(1), 67-87. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2020.1795240
- Luderer, H. Enman, N. M., Gerwien, R., Braun, S., F., McStocker, S., Xiong, X. R., Cannon, C.,
 Glass, J. E., & Maricich, Y. A. (2022). A prescription digital therapeutic to support
 unsupervised buprenorphine initiation for patients with opioid use disorder: Protocol
 for a proof-of-concept study. *JMIR Research Protocols*, *12*, e43122.
 https://doi.org/10.2196/43122
- Ma, X., Yue, Z. Q., Gong, Z. Q., Zhang, H., Duan, N. Y., Shi, Y., Wei, G. X., & Li, Y. F. (2017). The effect of diaphragmatic breathing on attention, negative affect and stress in healthy adults. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00874
- Magnon, V., Dutheil, F., & Vallet, G. T. (2021). Benefits from one session of deep and slow breathing on vagal tone and anxiety in young and older adults. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-98736-9
- Moridani, M. K. (2021). The effect of meditation on regulation of heart rate. *American Journal of Biomedical Science & Research*, *12*(2), 168-173. https://doi.org/10.34297/ajbsr.2021.12.001736

 Morillo, C. A., & Demichela, M. (2023). Exploring the impact of repetitive exercise on physical fatigue: A study of industrial task simulation in a controlled fitness setting. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, *99*(1), 163-168. https://www.cetjournal.it/cet/23/99/028.pdf

Nash, G. D., Crimmins, G., & Oprescu, F. (2016). If first-year students are afraid of public speaking assessments what can teachers do to alleviate such anxiety? *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *41*(4), 586-600.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1032212

- Negrin, K., Slaughter, S. E., Dahlke, S., & Olson, J. (2022). Successful recruitment to qualitative research: A critical reflection. *SAGE Journals*, *21*, 160940692211195. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221119576
- Niles, A. N., Craske, M. G., Lieberman, M. D., & Hur, C. (2015). Affect labeling enhances exposure effectiveness for public speaking anxiety. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 68, 27-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.03.004
- Novaković, N., & Teodosijević, B. (2017). Basics of public speaking. *BizInfo*, 8(2), 33-46. https://doi.org/10.5937/bizinfo1702033n
- Owens, M. E., & Beidel, D. C. (2014). Can virtual reality effectively elicit distress associated with social anxiety disorder? *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, *37*(2), 296-305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-014-9454-x

Ozamiz-Etxebarria, N., Santamaría, M. D., Munitis, A. E., & Gorrotxategi, M. P. (2020). Reduction of COVID-19 anxiety levels through relaxation techniques: A study carried out in Northern Spain on a sample of young university Students. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02038 Palmas, F., Cichor, J., Plecher, D. A., & Klinker, G. (2019). Acceptance and effectiveness of a virtual reality public speaking training. *2019 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR)*, 363-371.

https://doi.org/10.1109/ismar.2019.00034

- Poeschl, S. (2017). Virtual reality training for public speaking—A quest-VR framework validation. *Frontiers in ICT*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fict.2017.00013
- Premkumar, P., Heym, N., Brown, D. J., Battersby, S., Sumich, A., Huntington, B., Daly, R., & Zysk, E. (2021). The effectiveness of self-guided virtual-reality exposure therapy for public-speaking anxiety. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *12*.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.694610

- Quinn, S., & Goody, A. (2019). An evaluation of a course aimed at reducing public speaking anxiety among university students. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 31(3),* 503-511. *https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1244986.pdf*
- Quintana, D., & Heathers, J. (2014). Considerations in the assessment of heart rate variability in biobehavioral research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00805

Raja, F. U. (2017). Anxiety level in students of public speaking: Causes and remedies. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, 4(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v4i1.1001

Reeves, R., Elliott, A., Curran, D., Dyer, K., & Hanna, D. (2021). 360° Video virtual reality exposure therapy for public speaking anxiety: A randomised controlled trial. *Journal* of Anxiety Disorders, 83, 102451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2021.102451 Rodero, E., & Larrea, O. (2022). Virtual reality with distractors to overcome public speaking anxiety in university students. *Comunicar*, *30*(72), 87-99. https://doi.org/10.3916/c72-2022-07

Saarijärvi, M., & Bratt, E. (2021). When face-to-face interviews are not possible: tips and tricks for video, telephone, online chat, and email interviews in qualitative research. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 20(4), 392-396.

https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjcn/zvab038

- Šalkevičius, J., Damaševičius, R., Maskeliunas, R., & Laukienė, I. (2019). Anxiety level recognition for virtual reality therapy system using physiological Signals. *Electronics, 8*(9), 1039. https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics8091039
- Sarpourian, F., Vahdati, S. S., Moulaei, K., & Bahaadinbeigy, K. (2022). The effect of virtual reality therapy and counselling on students' public speaking anxiety. *Health Science Reports*, *5*(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.816
- Seo, Y., Yates, B. C., LaFramboise, L., Pozehl, B., Norman, J. F., & Hertzog, M. (2016). A homebased diaphragmatic breathing retraining in rural patients with heart failure. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 38(3), 270-291.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945915584201

- Shaffer, F., & Ginsberg, J. P. (2017). An overview of heart rate variability metrics and norms. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00258
- Simkus, J. (2023a). Within-subjects design: Examples, pros & cons. *Simply Psychology*. https://www.simplypsychology.org/within-subjects-design.html
- Simkus, J. (2023b). Between-subjects design: Overview & examples. *Simply Psychology*. https://www.simplypsychology.org/between-subjects-design.html

 Smith, C. A., Levett, K. M., Collins, C. T., Armour, M., Dahlen, H. G., & Suganuma, M. (2018).
 Relaxation techniques for pain management in labour. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2018(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd009514.pub2

- Sommerfeldt, S. L., Schaefer, S. M., Brauer, M., Ryff, C. D., & Davidson, R. J. (2019). Individual differences in the association between subjective stress and heart rate are related to psychological and physical well-Being. *Psychological Science*, *30*(7), 1016-1029. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797619849555
- Stupar-Rutenfrans, S., Ketelaars, L. E. H., & van Gisbergen, M. S. (2017). Beat the fear of public speaking: Mobile 360° video virtual reality exposure training in home environment reduces public speaking anxiety. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 20(10), 624-633. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2017.0174
- Sülter, R. E., Ketelaar, P. E., & Lange, W. G. (2022). SpeakApp-Kids! Virtual reality training to reduce fear of public speaking in children – A proof of concept. *Computers & Education*, *178*, 104384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104384
- Takac, M., Collett, J. R., Blom, K. J., Conduit, R., Rehm, I. C., & De Foe, A. (2019). Public speaking anxiety decreases within repeated virtual reality training sessions. *PLOS ONE*, 14(5), e0216288. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216288
- Tian, N., Liu, G., & Song, R. (2018). Effect of deep breathing on interaction between sympathetic and parasympathetic activities. *International Conference on Cyborg and Bionic Systems (CBS)*, 628-631. https://doi.org/10.1109/cbs.2018.8612291
- Tsang, A. (2017). Enhancing learners' awareness of oral presentation (delivery) skills in the context of self-regulated learning. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, *21*(1), 146978741773121. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787417731214

Tsang, A. (2018). Positive effects of a programme on oral presentation skills: high- and lowproficient learners' self-evaluations and perspectives. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *43*(5), 760-771. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2017.1407917

- Vallade, J. I., Kaufmann, R., Frisby, B. N., & Martin, J. C. (2020). Technology acceptance model: investigating students' intentions toward adoption of immersive 360° videos for public speaking rehearsals. *Communication Education*, *70*(2), 127-145. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2020.1791351
- Valls-Ratés, O., Niebuhr, O., & Prieto, P. (2022). Unguided virtual-reality training can enhance the oral presentation skills of high-school students. *Frontiers in Communication*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2022.910952
- Van Ginkel, S., Gulikers, J., Biemans, H. J. A., Noroozi, O., Roozen, M., Bos, T., Van Tilborg, R.,
 Van Halteren, M., & Mulder, M. (2019). Fostering oral presentation competence
 through a virtual reality-based task for delivering feedback. *Computers & Education*,
 134, 78-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.02.006
- Yuen, E. K., Goetter, E. M., Stasio, M. J., Ash, P., Mansour, B., McNally, E., Sanchez, M.,
 Hobar, E., Forte, S., Zulaica, K., & Watkins, J. (2019). A pilot of acceptance and
 commitment therapy for public speaking anxiety delivered with group
 videoconferencing and virtual reality exposure. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *12*, 47-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2019.01.006
- Van Es, V. A. A., Lopata, R. G., Scilingo, E. P., & Nardelli, M. (2023). Contactless cardiovascular assessment by imaging photoplethysmography: A comparison with wearable monitoring. *Sensors*, *23*(3), 1505. https://doi.org/10.3390/s23031505
- Vos, G., Trinh, K., Sarnyai, Z., & Azghadi, M. R. (2023). Generalizable machine learning for stress monitoring from wearable devices: A systematic literature review.

International Journal of Medical Informatics, 173, 105026.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2023.105026

Wasti, S. P., Simkhada, P., Van Teijlingen, E., Sathian, B., & Banerjee, I. (2022). The growing importance of mixed-methods research in health. *Nepal Journal of Epidemiology*, *12*(1), 1175-1178. https://doi.org/10.3126/nje.v12i1.43633

Yadav, M., Sakib, M. N., Nirjhar, E. H., Feng, K., Behzadan, A. H., & Chaspari, T. (2022).
Exploring individual differences of public speaking anxiety in real-life and virtual presentations. *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing*, *13*(3), 1168-1182.
https://doi.org/10.1109/taffc.2020.3048299

- Zacarin, M. R. J., Borloti, E., & Haydu, V. B. (2019). Behavioural therapy and virtual reality exposure for public speaking anxiety. *Temas Em Psicologia*, *27*(2), 491-507. https://doi.org/10.9788/tp2019.2-14
- Zaccaro, A., Piarulli, A., Laurino, M., Garbella, E., Menicucci, D., Neri, B., & Gemignani, A.
 (2018). How breath-control can change your life: A systematic review on
 psycho-physiological correlates of slow breathing. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*,
 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2018.00353

Appendix - Script relaxation micro-intervention training

<u>Intro:</u>

00:00: Hi, welcome to this audio-guided cognitive training technique. You will now be provided with the instructions that guide you through the practice. Your goal is to follow the instructions for the entire duration.

00:15: In order to perform at your best and succeed in the things you do, it is necessary to fine-tune your attention. This is the aim of the technique.

00:23: Provide yourself the opportunity to participate fully. Establish the appropriate mindset you need to do your best.

00:32: Let's get started. You should be comfortably seated in an area without distractions. Interruptions typically also affect your focus. Interruptions like many extra movements in your body may disrupt you.

00:46: So as you are seated in your chair, let's get you as comfortable as possible. Feel free to shake out tensions you may have in your shoulders, neck, hands and fingertips. Your lower body, legs and feet, have a quick stretch if needed. Once you are seated so comfortably, you should aim to remain still so as you complete this practice without much movement at all. Lastly place your hands on your thighs either with the palms facing upwards towards the ceiling or palms down. This is up to you.

START

01:34: Start by closing your eyes - the first thing is to take awareness of your breathing and pause on it for a few moments.

01:43: Being aware of the breath, just remain an observer of how it is. If it's fast let it be fast, if it's slow let it be slow. Make no attempt to change the speed of your breathing.

02:07: See if you can feel the coolness of the breath and warmth as you inhale and exhale.

02:22: Try to hear the sound of your heart beating, the pulse and silence between the ears.

Body rotation:

02:37: In the next stage, I will be naming different body parts and you will be doing two things with your mind.

02:44: Firstly, as you hear the name of the body parts, you will bring your awareness to each of these body parts without movement and repeat the name of these body parts within your mind.

02:56: Once again, bring your awareness to the different body parts and mentally repeat the name of these body parts within your mind. Starting with the right hand thumb, the right index finger, ring middle finger, ring finger, little finger. Back of the right hand, the palm, creases in the palm.

03:25: The right wrists, forearm, elbow, upper arm, shoulder, armpit, right side of the chest, waist, hip, thigh, shin, calf, ankle, heel, instep, ball of the right foot, the right big toe, 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} , 4^{th} , 5^{th} .

04:02: Moving onto the left side of the body, the left-hand thumb, the left index finger, left middle finger, ring finger, little finger. Back of the left hand, the palm, creases in the palm.

04:29: The left wrist, forearm, elbow, upper arm, shoulder, left armpit, left side of the chest, waist, hip, thigh, shin, calf, ankle, heel, instep, ball of the left foot, the left big toe, 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} , 4^{th} , 5^{th} .

05:12: In the next stage, let go of the mental repetition and only bring your awareness to each of the body parts as it is named.

05:21: Firstly, feel your heels meeting the ground, and the ground meeting your heels, the calves against the clothing, the back of the knees, the back of the thighs, the buttocks on the chair, lower back, middle back, upper back. Run your awareness down and up the spine 3X quickly. Take awareness at the back of your shoulders, the scapulars.

06:11: The back of your upper arm, the elbows, back of the forearms, back of the hands, the wrists, back to the elbows, back of the upper arms, back of your shoulders, the base of your neck, the upper part of your neck, the back of your head, the hairline through to your forehead.

06:54: The left temple, the right temple, the left eyebrow, right eyebrow, space between the eyebrows X3. The left eye, the right eye, where the eyelids meet. Bridge of the nose, tip of the nose, left nostril, right nostril, both nostrils together.

07:46: The left cheek, the right cheek, the upper lip, lower lip, where the lips meet. Chin, front of the throat, top of the chest, centre of the abdomen, front of your pelvis, the tops of your thighs, the tops of your knee caps, the shins, top of the foot, the top of the toes.

08:36: Take awareness of your whole right foot, the whole left foot, both feet together, the awareness of the whole right leg, the whole left leg, both legs together. Awareness of your left arm, awareness of your right arm, both arms together. Awareness of the left side of the

torso, the right side of the torso, your whole torso together. Be aware of the left side of your face, the right side of your face, the whole face.

09:57: Be aware of the front of your body, be aware of the back of your body. The lower part of your body, the upper part of your body. Then take awareness of your whole body, not this side, not that side, not left, not right, not upper, not lower. Take awareness of your whole-body X4.

Breath awareness:

10:51: As you sit, let us return back to your breath, watch the rise and fall of your chest.

11:07: Trace the air as you inhale and exhale out of your body.

11:15: Watch your breath and stay focused on it with curiosity.

<u>Exit:</u>

12:23: Once again take awareness of your body. The points of contact between your body and the chair, your feet on the floor

12:38: Be aware of the position of your body within the room, of the room within the building, take your awareness and externalise even further now.

12:54: Introduce small movements into your body, wriggle your fingers and toes, followed by larger ones, your hands and feet. The practice is complete, have a stretch, do what's right for you.

13:13: You may now open your eyes. Thank you for your practice, I hope you enjoyed that. And carry on with the next part of your day.